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SEAMAN STORE COMPANY V. BONNER. 

4-4929


Opinion delivered February 7, 1938. 
1. MASTER AND SatVANT—SAFE APPLIANCES.—It is the duty of the 

master t6 exercise ordinary care to furnish a reasonably safe 
place and reasonably safe appliances with which the seryant may 
perform his work and it cannot, under the evidence, be said that 
the master discharged that duty. 

2. NEGLIGENCE.—Negligence is not synonymous with intentional or 
willful ,action, but may consist of inattention in which case the 
results may be as serious as would follow from wrongful conduct. 

3. MASTER AND SERVANT—CARE REQUIRED OF MASTER.—While abso-
lute safety is unattainable and employers are not insurers of the 
safety of their employees, they are liable for the consequences of 
negligence; and the unbending test of negligence in furnishing 
appliances is the ordinary usage of business. 

4. MASTER AND SERVANT—TEST FOR DETERMINING MASTER'S LIABILITY. 
The test for determining the liability of the master in case of 
injury to one of his servants is the conduct of the average man 
under the same or like conditions. 

5. MASTER AND SERVANT.—In an action by appellee to recover for 
injuries sustained in the use of a defective elevator in lifting 
merchandise from the first to the second floor of appellant's place 
of business on the ground that the exercise of ordinary care in 
inspecting the elevator would have disclosed a loose wedge key 
fastening the pinion wheel, held that evidence of lack of such 
care in inspecting it was sufficient to sustain the finding of liability 
for appellee's injury. 

6. TRIAL—EVIDENCE—WITNESSES.—The jury determines the credit 
to be given to the testimony of expert witnesses, and will not 
necessarily be bound by such testimony. 

7. APPEAL AND ERROR.—Appellant cannot complain of invited eror. 
8. TRIAL—REOPENING CASEL—The matter of reopening or refusing to 

reopen the case, after both parties had rested, for the admission 
of additional testimony was within the discretion of the dourt. 

9. APPEAL AND ERROR—DAMAGES--EXCESSIVE VERDICT.—Verdict for 
$40,000 in favor of 20-year-old employee with life expectancy of
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40 years and earning $9.50 per week for injuries resulting in 
traumatic neurosis held excessive by $10,000. 

Appeal from Crawford Circuit Court; J. 0. Kinearn-
non, Judge; affirmed if remittitur entered. 

R. S. Wilson and Daily & Woods, for appellant. 
Partain i& Agee, for appellee. 
BAKER, J. This is an appeal from the Crawford cir-

cuit court. Suit was filed there on or about May 19th 
or 20th, 1937, alleging injury caused by a falling freight 
elevator in the business house of the appellant. 

It is alleged in the complaint that certain parts of 
the elevator were old, worn and defective, and particu-
larly that a wedge key used to fasten a . pinion wheel on 
a shaft had worked loose, and that this loosening of the 
wedge key permitted the wheel to slip or -turn upon the 
shaft, and the loaded 'elevator to fall and strike young 
Bonner, who was aiding in the operation of the elevator 
in moving merchandise from the first floor to the second 
floor of the store building of the appellant. • It was the 
contention of the appellee that the appellant knew, or, 
in the exercise of ordinary care, should have known of 
the loose wedge key; that a reasonable inspection would 
have disclosed the condition;•that the appellant negli-
gently failed to make inspections. 

The appellant contended, first, that the loose wedge 
key was not discoverable by inspection and, second, that 
the foosening of the wedge key and the descent or falling 
of the elevator were simultaneous and, third, that the 
slipping out of the wedge key was an occurrence im. 
possible of anticipation. 

This case has been presented upon briefs somewhat 
voluminous and in addition upon oral argument. There 
are several assignments of error presented by appellant. 
(1) The appellant was entitled to a directed verdict on 
the question of liability; (2) The appellant was entitled 
to a directed verdict on the issue of permanent impair-
ment; (3) The appellant's motion to reopen the case for 
further testimony should have been sustained; (4) That 
appellee's-counsel was guilty of improper and highly
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prejudicial argument ; and (5) The verdict of the jury 
is excessive. 

We shall attempt to discuss and dispose -of these 
several issues, devoting such attention to each as its real 
*importance may seem to require, but we shall not at-
tempt to quote in detail testimony of witnesses upon each 
of the several propositions, but must content ourselves 
with the statement of what we conceive to be the facts 
as stated most favorably for the appellee. 

The elevator upon which the appellee was employed 
at the time of his injury was in the store or mercantile 
business house of the appellant company. It was about 
seven feet wide and ten feet long. It is what was known 
as a hand-power freight elevator operated to move 
freight and merchandise from the first floor to the second 
floor ; the shaft upon which the drum was located, or to 
which it was connected by the operating machinery, was 
up at the top, or probably above the ceiling of the second 
floor; that a cable or cables went from the elevator to 
the drum upon which they were rolled or unrolled in the 
raising or lowering of the elevator. There were counter-
balancing heavy weights. At the time of the injury al-
leged, the elevator was in use moving freight, a heavy 
load of merchandise, and two or three employees were 
engaged in this work. Power was applied 'by those op-
erating the elevator by pulling or swinging upon a*large 
rope ; that perhaps only one would pull upon the rope at 
a time and he would step back and another would take his 
place until the elevator had reached the top, then a hand-
brake was applied by pulling upon another rope which 
held the elevator in the proper position until it was un-
loaded. The shaft, at or abOut the ceiling of 'the second 
floor, was horizOntal and upon it was fastened to what 
is called a pinion wheel. This pinion wheel had to be 
securely fixed so that it would not turn upon this shaft, 
or axis, but in the operation of the elevator the wheel 
would turn with the shaft or axis upon which it was 
fastened. The fastening device was a wedge shaped 
piece of iron or steel, perhaps one-half inch thick, and 
maybe a little more than that in height at the.darger end,
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and it tapered to a point at the other end, and this was 
driven into a slot cut into the shaft just wide enough to 
hold this wedge key set upon edge in the slot, and into a 
corresponding slot, or cut in the pinion wheel into which 
the wedge was engaged or driven, fastening the wheel 
upon the shaft. This is said to be a very simple and a 
very common device used generally in fastening wheels 
or pulleys upon shafts in many kinds of machinery -and 
ordinarily it is deemed very secure. 

This wedge key, immediately after the accident, was 
found to be loose and sufficiently withdrawn from, or out 
of .the slot, to permit the wheel to turn upon the shaft; 
that it was burred and the smaller end twisted or bent. 
It was shown that it was repaired by filing off the burrs 
or roughened particles and straightened and was driven 
back into the slot. 

At the time of the accident young Bonner and an-
other employee, working together, were hoisting a load 
of freight on the elevator, and in doing so were standing 
on the first floor pulling upon a rope used for that pur-
pose. Bonner had been pulling at the rope and stepped 
aside to permit his companion to take his place. We do 
not know just how high the elevator had gone, but evi-
dently somewhat above the heads of the employees, when 
it fell With a crash that was heard by people in nearby 
houses, some of whom visited the scene immediately after 
the accident. In falling, young Boimer was struck upon 
the head and carried down with the elevator. A cut or 
gash was made upon his head and his upper lip was split. 
The elevator was pulled up and he was taken from under 
it. He was unconscious for a short time. There was not 
found upon examination, however, at that time or there-
after, any broken bones or fractures, or any depressions 
upon the cranium. 
. Within the next few days, after this acciclent occur-

red, young Bonner went two or three times for examina-
tion and treatment, and did walk in and out of the clinic 
or hoSpital where he was examined and treated. About 
ten days after the accident he filed this suit in the Craw-
ford circuit court, and since that time he says he has not
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been able to walk, at any time or on any occasion without 
having someone support him. 

It is argued most seriously that we should hold, as a 
matter of law, that when this wedge key came loose 
the elevator could not be operated, that is to say, that 
the loosening of . the key and the accident •were simul-
taneous, and that no reasonable inspection would have 
disclosed the loosened condition of the key, if one had 
been made. We think this contention is open to a very 
serious doubt as to its accuracy. Those in control of 
the operation of the store building testified that they had 
been operating this elevator for a period of about ten 
years, and that no actual inspections had been made by 
them or anyone for the store building, excePt possibly 
an inspection made about two and a half years before 
the accident. The extent or thoroughness of that inspec-
tion, or for what purpose, is in no wise shown by any 
witness. It is said to have been made by one who is still 
a resident of Fort Smith. 

Two or three witnesses used as experts, two of whom 
were employed iby elevator companies, Who had made in-
spections for . such companies, testified in regard to in-
spections of elevators, and one who said he was a safety 
engineer for an insurance company and whose business 
it was to make inspections of elevators which his com-
pany insured. He said that ordinarily they made in-
spections at least once a year to deterinine the safety of 
elevators in order that they might avoid accidents and 
losses caused thereby. Some of these witnesses indi-
cated, however, that most of the inSpections of elevators 
where wheels are fastened to axles with the wedge key 
device such device is ordinarily not very closely observed, 
if noticed at 'all. 

The manager of the store testified that the next 
morning after this accident he and another man em-
ployed there made an inspection to determine; if possible 
the cause of the accident; that he sent a man with a 
flash light to examine this shaft uPon whiCh was.fastened 
the pinion wheel with the wedge key .; that 'the. wedge. 
key was found to have been loosened to such an extent
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that the man making the examination removed it 0:2., 
pulled it out with his fingers and handed it to him. He 
also described the burred condition, the twisting or bend-
ing at the end of the wedge key as it was found when 
they removed it. From this testimony it is observed 
that the wedge key had not fallen" or come out of the 
slot; but had only receded or slipped out to such .an extent 
that the wheel was permitted to turn. It is possible that 
it may have become loosened in a very short time, but 
it is also possible that it may have been working loose 
over a long period of time. It is a certainty, however, 
that if it had:been loosening or backing out of this-slot 
over a period of years, as it is possible that it could have 
done, it reached the point on the day of the accident. 
for-the first time, when the wheel was permitted to turn. 
The burred and twisted condition may have been caused 
by the pulling of heavy loads upon this loosened key. 
At any rate, it does not seem consistent with physical 
laws that the wedge key could have instantly slipped or 
backed . out of the slot just far enough to permit the acci-
dent, and to have been safe and secUre at all times prior 
thereto. 

There is no suggestion that the appellee was charged 
with any duty in regard to the maintenance of the eleva-
tor, nor was he employed or required in any particular to 
make any inspection, nor is there any evidence that the 
condition of this wedge key and pinion wheel could,have 
been discovered by him or any other employee, except 
as it was discovered the next morning after the accident 
by sending a man with a flash light into this darkened 
top part of the elevator to find what was wrong. 

Since it is the duty of the master to exercise or-
dinary care to furnish a reasonably safe place and rea-
sonably safe appliances- wherein, and with which the 
servant may be employed, we cannot say, as a matter of 
law, that that duty was discharged by the master in the 
instant case. There is no pretense that it was. The 
defense is that inspection was unnecessary and would not 
have disclosed the dangerous condition. If the facts 
above stated -do not present a typical case of negligence,
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they do at least present a question of fact properly, to be 
submitted to a jury for its determination. Negligence 
is not synonymous with intentional or wilful action. It 
may consist of inattention and the . results be just as 
hazardous by- reason of inattention or neglect as would 
follow from wrongful conduct. 

Appellant, in its most exhaustive research,' has tore-
sented many authorities for our consideration7- We have 
selected, as typical, two well considered cases. - The first 
of these, which we consider, is that of Leonard v. Herr-
man, 195 Pa. 222, 45 Atl. 723. That case quotes from 
another Pennsylvania case, Titus v. Ry. Co., 136 Pa. St. 
618,20 Atl. 517,20 Am. St. Rep. 944, as follows : "Abso-
lute safety is unattainable, and employers are not in-
surers. They are liable for the consequences, not of 
danger, but of negligence; and the unbending test of 
negligence in. methods, machinery, and appliances is the 
ordinary Usage of the business. No man is held by law 
to a higher degree of skill than the fair average of his 
profession or trade; and the standard of due care is the 
conduct of tbe average prudent man. The test of negli-
gence in employers is the same, and, however strongly 
they may be convinced that there is a better or less 
dangerous way, no jury can be permitted to say that the 
usual and ordinary way, commonly adopted by those in 
the same business, is a negligent way, for which liability 
shall be imposed." 

Substantially the same, if not the exact language, 
just quoted above, was used in the case of. Spindler v. 
American Express Co., (Mo.) 232 S. W: 690, 693. 

The soundness of the foregoing declarations is ex-
pressed by the well chosen language used, and if less 
were said than we have set out, we could not quote the 
above statements with approval. 

Industry and business will not suffer when courts 
and juries realize that the fair test for determining lia-
bility of the master to the injured servant is the conduct 
of the average prudent man under the same or like con-
ditions. When business and industry likewise take cog-
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nizance of and uniformly follow the same fair ru\  
ditions will be ideal.	•	 z/7- 

HoWever sincere one may be in a belief that 
inspections and precautionary measures might not be 
available, he cannot neglect the employment of such pre-
cautionary conduct without the . menace of such evil ef-
fects as naturally follow. 

Appellants cite the rule announced in 45 C. J. 867. 
This is a. pointed statement of the law and the last part 
of the quoted provision is no less practicable than the 
first part thereof, that is "the owner has discharged his 
duty , if he has provided the elevator with appliances 
which are in common use and has exercised reasonable 
care in inspecting, repairing and management." Cer-
tainly appellant cannot be too insistent that no inspec-
tion made by it within a period of ten years and the only 
inspection made was tiwo • and a half years ago, and of 
which they now have no knowledge, is untainted with 
negligence.	 - 

This matter was submitted properly to the jury, men 
presumptively of experience in common or ordinary 
everyda.y affairs, and they have held against appellant's 
contention in that respect, and we think it apparent that 
the evidence is . not only substantial but ample to sup-
port their finding on the question of liability. There is 
no real insistence that appellee was guilty of contribu-
tory negligence, but that he had assumed the risk in the 
operation of the elevator and unnecessarily was stand-
ing too near. the elevator frame when struck. There was 
no danger at that point except such as arose out of ap-
pellant's negligence as found by the jury. 

(2) The next question is one that has given us a 
great deal of trouble. The appellant insists tha.t except 
for the small scars on appellee's head and lip that there 
is no substantial evidence of his injuries. The evidence 
in this case may not be as satisfactory as one would" al-
ways like. Most of it is in a field or sphere with which 
laymen have little acquaintanceship and the facts are 
such that their truthfulness is not susceptible of actual 
demonstration.



ARK.]	 SEAMAN STORE COMPANY V. BONNER.	 571 

Two physicians made an examination of young Bon-
ner, and they say that all the symptoms or conditions 
found by them were subjective in their nature; that they 
learned of the facts from the history of the case as given 
to them by the appellee, by his parents, or other mem-
bers of his family. They made tests, as we understand, 
to determine the accuracy of these statements and these 
tests so made corresponded with, and verified to tbeir 
satisfaction, such subjective symptoms, pains and aches, 
and convinced them of the seriousness of appellee's in-
juries. There were lay witnesses who testified tbat the 
plaintiff had been constantly in bed since a short time 
after the injury, that he complained of certain pains and 
aches. He described the location of these pains. He 
testified to his inability to work or to exercise properly 
his limbs since about the 9th or 10th day after his in-
jury. The physicians say he is suffering from traumatic 
neurosis. They say that it is the history of this particu-
lar trouble now recognized • by physicians who treat in-\
juries peculiar to industry, that after the injury, though 
it may be slight, or, at least, apparently not very severe, 
there is often a period of incubation of a few days, or 
possibly a few weeks, after which there is a complete 
breakdown so far as actual activity is concerned. This 
young .man at the time that he testified said that for a 
time he could not hear very well, or at least his hearing 
in one ear was seriously impaired ;' that in that respect 

\\t he has practically recovered; that his pains heretofore 
suffered are somewhat less *regular , and perhaps a little 
less severe; but he is still unable to work. 

Other physicians examined this young man and ex-
cept for the scars, one on his head and one on his lip, 
they say they found no kind of conditiOn to justify a be-
lief or opinion tbat he at any time suffered any serious 
injury or that there is at this time any real impairment. 
One of these physicians testified that after learning the 
subjective symptoms, the locations of the pains, that 
young Bonner claimed to have, he traced out the nerves 
from the head and back to determine if they had been 
injured and says that he found a• normal condition as
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to _all these nerves at points or locations at which pain 
might have been induced, as claimed by Bonner. He 
found an .absolutely normal condition of all the vital or-
gans of the body, including the heart, lungs, kidneys and 
alimentary canal ;- that as to every test of the reflexes 
there was a normal response ; that there is no condition 
prevailing at this time that indicates the impairment of 
any of the normal functions of the body. 

It is, therefore, argued most seriously that the jury's 
verdict rendered in the face of this conflicting testimony 
must have been A. matter of speculation. It is also- argued 
that the two physicians who testified for the appellee, 
and who have given in their opinions a statement to the 
effect that he is totally and permanently-injured and that 
he will perhaps never walk or work again is not the tes-
timony of those who are experienced in the particular 
field and that they have not the ability of other physi-
cians who prof eSs . to have somewhat more experience and - 
a better opportunity for training and who gave a differ-
ent- view. It is riot urged that the testimony given by 
any of these physicians was improper ; that it should 
nothave been heard by the jury, nor is it coritended that 
the jury should not have considered all that was said 
by any one of thein. In this part of the record, and we 
think there is no error about that part of it, it appears 
beyond dispute that . this whole controversy in regard to 
the injuries and eXtent thereof were jury questions, prop-
erly submitted and correctly determined. At any rate, 
we cannot arrogate to ourselves that bit of superior 
knowledge which would qualify us to decide which theory 
was correct and which not. In that plane of physical and 
Mental, or psychic phenomena, we must all depend upon 
those who profess to know for such information as we 
may receive. We are privileged in such controversies as 
the one under consideration to accept or reject as we 
choose. 

It may be that young Bonner, instead of being a help-
less victim on account of injuries suffered by reason of 
_negligence of his employer, is now malingering or may-
-hap he is the subject of self-induced hypnosis without
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apparent physical impairment. On the other 'hand there 
is a possibility, so far as we know a great probability, 
his body has undergone some organic change not suscep-
tible to actual or demonstrable discovery. We have been 
cited upon this phase of tbe case to "A Text-Book of 
Clinical Neurology," published by Dr. Israel S. Wech-
sler, professor of clinical neurology of Columbia Uni-
versity. 

"Following some trifling or more serious accident, 
which may or may not have been accompanied by • tem-
porary unconsciousness, many individuals develop a 
train of symptoms which are characteristic of the gen-
eral neuroses. These symptoms usually set in after a 
so-called incubation period of a few days or weeks, and 
more seldom months, in which the individual is seem-
ingly well and shows no signs of organic irivolvement of 
the nervous system. These syndromes generally follow 
industrial accidents ; they have been observed during the 
war; they may occur . in individuals who have merely 
been 'shocked' in railroad accidents or explosions with-
out having received any demonstrable injury. Most com-
monly they follow blows to the head. 

"The two main complaints a re headache and 
dizziness." 

The foregoing quotation, at least, demonstrates the 
fact that scholarly experts free from any contact or in-
terest give serious consideration to such conditions, as, 
at least, two of the physicians found and determined to - 
be present, in their examination of young Bonner: 

Certainly, insofar as this question may be justici-
able; it is one for the jury. It assuredly cannot be said 
to be a matter of law. 

The foregoing comment made in relation to conflict 
in theories advanced by experts was intended to demon-
strate the untenable position of appellant. The jury 
deterridnes the credit due to be given to even expert wit-
nesses and will not necessarily be bound by such 
testimony. 

At this juncture, it is proper. to consider the third 
alleged error for which appellant contends there should
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be a reversal. In the cross-examination of one of these 
experts a rather wide range was allowed, no doubt prop-
erly so, and he was questioned in regard to opinions ex-
pressed by him in one or two other cases of an almost 
exactly similar nature. He was asked if he did not make 
certain statements which were read to him from cer-
tified &Ties of his former testimony. This was in ac-

- cordance with the rules of evidence permissible. Sec-
tion 5197, Pope's Digest. This part of the examination of 
the witness was upon matters purely collateral, but it was 
upon cross-examination and may have tested the credi-
bility of the witness. 

Finally it is urged that he was asked in regard 
to a certain former plaintiff in a suit by the name of 
Minton, if he had not expressed in the former trial that 
Minton had no real affliction or injury, and it was urged 
that Minton had been "planted" before the jury, some-
what old and apparently seriously crippled. An argu-
ment ensued between counsel and the witness, and im-
mediately following the testimony so given by the wit-
ness, one of the experts, appellant's counsel called other 
witnesses . who were examined and gave testimony in 
support of the statements made by the expert on the 
cross-examination. This proceeding was erroneous, but 
counsel for the appellee made no objection and counsel 
for appellant were permitted to pursue this course. Fi- 
nally, Tom Minton, the crippled man about whom the 
witnesses were called upon to testify and whose condi-
tion or injury had not even a remote connection with 
the case upon trial, was called to the stand and permitted 
to testify in contradiction of the statements made by 
the expert in regard to his former condition and acci-
dent. Let it be remembered that this examination was 
in regard to collateral matters and, of course, the appel-
lee was bound by the answers given by the witness ; but 
after appellant had sought to bolster the testimony _of 
the expert, then Minton was called and permitted to deny 
the statements made by the expert in his case, and this 
was done without objection and; however erroheous it 
might otherwise have been as it proceeded to that point,
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there was no objection and no prejudice, unless it was 
invited prejudice. All occurred on Friday or Saturday 
afternoon. When each party had developed the case in 
regard to this particular new issue as Much as was de-
sired up to that time, both parties rested, and there was 
an adjournment of the court until the following Tuesday. 
At that time the appellant .ffied a motion asking permis-
sion to reopen the case in order that additional testi-
mony might be presented to contradict the statements 
made by Minton in regard to this collateral matter. Ap-
pellee expressed a willingness to reopen the case, pro-
vided time was given to procure other witnesses who 
would testify in support of their theory. Until this state 
of the proceeding was reached, it must be conceded that 
there was no error that either party could urge for the 
reason that neither had interposed -any objection or 
saved any exception. It appears that the court would 
have granted permission to reopen the case and would 
have permitted a resumption of the trial of this collateral 
matter, except for the fact that it would have caused 
undue delay to have permitted the appellee to bring from 
another county several witnesses desired. Appellant's 
motion was, therefore, overruled; and this order of the 
court overruling the motion is one of the assignments 
of error brought forward On appeal. Appellant's motion 
was accompanied by affidavits of several witnesses who 
were present ready to testify. 

We intend to say nothing at this time that will im-
pair in the least the right of any party to cross-examine 
any expert witness, nor is there anything that we would 
suggest that would impair the right to contradict any 
wanes§ whether expert or not, and we do not think that 
the conclusions that we have reached in regard to this 
controversy will have that effect. We appreciate fully 
hOw far-reaching was the probable effect of this testi-
mony, but the matter of reopening this case for the fur-
ther development of a matter purely collateral was one 
of discretion. It was not proper for the court to permit 
an effort to bolster the testimony of the witness, or sup-
port it under such circumstances, and no doubt would
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have sustained proper objections, but if the parties them-
selves were willing to enter into that controversy and 
did do it without objection, we know of no authority, 
and certainly none has been cited, that would require 
the court to permit a continuation of trial of issues col-
lateral, and more particularly is this true after both sides 
had announced they had finished their evidence. It was 
urged that this testimony that they wanted to offer was 
newly discovered, but, even if it had been so considered, 
the court might properly have ended this roving investi-
gation at any time and most certainly upon investigation. 
There is a question in regard to the fact of whether the 
evidence was newly discovered, or was already known at 
the time of the adjournment after each party had closed 
his case. Some evidence was offered in regard to that 
fact and heard by the court before he made his ruling 
upon the motion and even that issue must be decided most 
favorably to support appellee's position. 

Certainly in the exercise of judicial discretion the 
court may have properly ruled as he did and prevented 
a further presentation of collateral matters. If all that 
was collateral must be disposed of in the trial of issues, 
trials like this might perhaps continue indefinitely. There 
are many authorities correctly announcing the principle 
of law in regard to impeachments, but we will content 
ourselves with citing Taylor v. McClintock, 87 Ark. 243, 
112 S. W. 405, and MoArthur v. State, 59 Ark. 431, 27 
S. W. 628. We think it must appear that in an investi-
gation of collateral matters, if permitted, the investiga-
tion must end at sometime with one side perhaps having 
the advantage. It is better that they be left alone. On 
this point we see no error. 

Fourth, we have made a careful examination of the 
alleged errors arising from argument of appellee's coun-
sel. We do not think prejudicial error is shown, though 
perhaps some immoderate speech was employed and may 
be some incorrect deductions drawn and forcibly ex-
pressed. The court properly admonished the jury on 
two or three occasions when objections were urged. 
•	We see no benefit to be had from any extended dis-




cussion of this matter. No part of the attorney's re-
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marks • come within the inhibitions announced in the au-
thorities. Our latest cases are Hogan v. State, 191 Ark. 
437, 86 S. W. 2d 931 ; Missouri P. Rd. Co. v. Foreman., 194 
Ark. 490, 107 S. W. 2d 546. 

Some remarks complained of were invited. 
Fifth, it-is urged finally that the judgment is . exces-

sive Obat it is a result of passion or prejudice on the 
part of the jury. It can serve no useful purpose to make 
a repetition of all the testimony. It will suffice to say 
that the appellee was a young man about tWenty years 
of age with an expectancy of about or approximately 
forty years. He was a graduate of high school, expect-
ing and attempting to earn moneY to go to the State 
University. At the . time 'of the accident, though he had 
worked for this ' company for -several months, he was 
earning only $9,50 a week. There is no evidence that 
he was in . any line for promotion, or that there was any 
prospective increase in his earnings. 

A computation of the amounts he might have earned 
at $10 a week, a little more than his actual earnings at 
the time of his injury, would have been less than $21,000 
during the term of his expectancy. The present cash 
value of that amount would have been considerably less. 
The testimony shows that if the appellee suffered any 
broken bone that fact does not appear. It is not even 
Urged that he did, though he testified his jaw was broken. 
There is no impairment so far as was discoverable by 
any of the-physicians of any of the bodily organs, even 
the pain of which he complained had become less fre-
qpent and less severe. We think, therefore, that the ver-
dict is excessive in that there is no substantial evidence 
to support it for the full amount given. 

After due consideration of all these matters, we 
think that compensation for all pain and suffering, for 
impaired earning ability, if any, for all loss occasioned 
by injuries, the sum of $30,000 will be ample, and the 
error may be cured by a remittitur. 

There are several . cases in our reports sustaining 
judgments for this amount and some for larger sums, 
hut in all those cases there was objective evidence of im-
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pairment of bodily functions present. There was evi-
dence of the destruction of earning power much greater 
than appellee's. It is unnecessary to cite cases. 

Since we have determined that the verdict is exces-
sive by at least $10,000, the error may be cured by a 
remittitur of that amount. If the appellee will enter a 
remittitur within fifteen days reducing the judgMent to 
$30,000 it will be affirmed. Otherwise it will be reversed 
and remanded. 

GRIFFIN SMITH, C. J., SMITH and Mcl-IANEv, JJ., 
dissent. 

SMITH, J. (dissenting). In the case of Singer Mainm-
facturing Co. v. Rogers, 70 Ark. 385, 67 S. W. 75, 68 S. W. 
153, Justice RIDDICK, speaking for an undivided court, 
said: " The rule established in this court is that, even 
where there may be some conflict in the evidence, a new 
trial will be granted where the verdict is so clearly and 
palpably against the weight of evidence as to shock the 
sense of justice of a reasonable person; and the evidence 
here, we think, calls for this application of this rule. 
(Citing cases)." 

We are now no longer shocked. We employ the ver-
dicts of juries as shock absorbers. Certainly no one ques-
tions the jury's exclusive right to pass upon the truth of 
controverted issues of fact. But it . does not follow, be-
cause juries have this right, that they have the right also 
to return any verdict which fancy, passion or prejudice 
may suggest. 

The rule has been too often announced to be ques-
tioned that the verdicts of juries will not be disturbed on 
account of a finding of fact where there is substantial 
evidence to support that finding. Our reports are full of 
such cases, of which I have written a number, and I do 
not inveigh against or question them. But it does occur 
to me that there is a growing inclination on our part to 
shirk our responsibility in reviewing jury trials. We are 
becoming too prone to wash our hands of responsibility 
by saying that while a particular verdict should not have 
been returned and that our own sense of fairness and
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justice is such that we would not have done so, yet we 
are concluded by the verdict of the jury. 

The rule is firmly fixed by the numerous decisions of 
this court that we may not reverse a judgment as having 
been rendered upon insufficient testimony where the ver-
dict upon which the judgment was rendered is supported 
by substantial testimony. I reannounce my adherence to 
this rule, and I shall continue in the future, as in the past, 
to apply it in determining how my own-vote shall be cast 
in all cases that may come before this court during my 
service as a member of it. 

But are we without power to review this testimony? 
Have we no function to perform in passing upon its legal 
sufficiency to support a verdict which niay have been, and 
in many cases is, returned, not by the unanimous vote of 
the jury,. but by the vote of only three-fourths thereof ? 
I say we have a duty, of which we are not relieved by 
the fact that a verdict has been returned. On the con-
trary, this duty is not imposed upon us until we are called 
upon to review that verdict. We then have -that duty to 
perform, and can only discharge it by determining, as a 
matter of law, whether there iS a failure of proof or 
whether the evidence is legally sufficient to warrant the 
verdict. 

In the case of Catlett v. St: Louis, 1. M. (6 S. Railway 
Compafay, 57 Ark. 461, 21 S. W. 1062, 38 Am. St. Rep. 254, 
Chief Justice COCKRILL said : "The test is as follows : 
After drawing all the inferences most favorable . to the 
verdict that the evidence will reasonably warrant, is it 
sufficient in law to sustain the verdict?" The learned 
Chief Justice then proceeded to say that the legal suffi-
ciency of testimony to support a verdict is not a question 
of fact, nor one of law and fact, but is a question of law 
upon which this court must pass. That question is not 
only not concluded by the verdict of the jury, but .cannot 
arise until the verdict has been returned. 

• We have many cases holding that we will not reverse 
a judgment on account of the insufficiency of the evidence 
to support it where there is some evidence, or substantial 
evidence, or other phrases of similar import. The judges
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writing these opinions have not always employed the 
same phrase, and some judges have chosen one, other 
judges a different phrase, but all were intended to express 
the same meaning, and Chief Justice COCKRILL defined the 
meaning of all these and similar phrases in tbe Catlett 
case, supra. He tbere said : 

"The terms, 'some evidence," any evidence," any 
evidence whatever,' and 'any evidence at all,' as used in 
the opinions, all mean evidence legally sufficient to war-
rant a verdict. The legal sufficiency of evidence in that 
sense is a question of law, and the court must decide it, 
it matters not when or how it arises. The test that is 
applied by this court in determining the legal sufficiency 
of the evidence to sustain a verdict justified the trial 
court in reaching the conclusion that there was no proof 
of negligence. The conclusion followed as matter of law 
that.no recovery could be had, upon any view that could 
be taken of the facts which the evidence could be said to 
tend to establish. The question of negligence was there-- 
fore one of law for the court to decide. Texas .& P. Ry. 
v. Cox, 145 U. S. 593, 12 S. Ct. 905, 36 L. Ed. 829; Grand 
Trunk Ry. v. Ives; 144 U: S. 408, 12 S. Ct. 679, 36 L. Ed. 
485."	• 

Shall we discharge that function bere by applying 
the test which Judge COOKRILL said should be applied in 
all cases, and, if we do apply it here, can this judgment be 
affirmed, even though a remittitur has been ordered? 

That the verdict was excessive we are all agreed. In 
the case of St. Louis, Iron Mountain, <6 Southern Ry. Co. 
v. Adams, 74 Ark. 326, 85 S. W. 768, 86 S. W. 287, 109 
Am. St. Rep. 85, Justice RIDDICK announced the rule sus-
tained by the many cases there cited, and from which we 
profess never to have departed, which should be followed 

- in cases where excessive verdicts have been returned. He 
said : "Where the right to recover is clear, and has been 
established by the verdict of a jury, and where the errors• 
committed in the trial go only to the enhancement of the 
ainount of the verdict, and do not affect the question of 
whether defendant is liable or not, then, if the verdict be 
excessive, or if, on account of improper evidence, or im-
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proper argument of counsel tending to ' enhance the 
amount of damages allowed, the court is not able to say 
from the evidence that the verdict is not excessive, and 
that the defendant was not prejudiced, in respect to the 
amount of the damages assessed, by such improper evi-
dence or argument, the court may, in its discretion, name 
a sum which is clearly not excessive, and as a matter of 
grace to the plaintiff allow him to accept judgment for •

 that amount, instead of a new trial. (Citing cases)." 
The majority opinion reflects the fact that the right 

to recover in the instant case was not clear, and there 
were alleged improper arguments of counsel, and other 
assignments of error, so that if the judgment is -as grossly 
excessive as I think the testimony shows it to be, the 
case is not one in which the plaintiff should be allowed, 
as a matter of grace, to enter a remittitur, but is one in 
which the judgment should be reversed and tbe cause 
remanded for a new trial. 

Now, we must draw "all the inferences most favor-
able to the verdict," but this does not mean that we may 
now disregard, or that the jury, in performing its func-
tion, could have then disregarded, the undisputed evi-
dence not favorable to the verdict. See St. Lonis-San 
Francisco Ry. Co. v. Harmon, 179 Ark. 248, 15 S. W. 2d 
310, and the cases there cited. 

Here the undisputed evidence shows that the acci-
dent occurred May 10, and the plaintiff did not become 
bedfast until May 19, the day on which the suit was filed. 
Plaintiff himself admitted that he was able to walk prior 
to that day, and three disinterested ladies, near neigh-
bors, all testified that they had seen him walking since 
the suit was brought. These witnesses testified positively 
that they had seen appellee out of his bed and moving 
around unassisted several times. Two of these ladies 
fixed the time definitely after May 19, and, in fact, only 
three or four weeks before the trial. An effort was made 
to prove these ladies were mistaken, although they testi-
fied positively they were not, but plaintiff's mother, when 
called to rebut this testimony, did not deny that appellee 
had walked to the bathroom, had walked to the kitchen 
sink, and had walked to the dining-table to eat.
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Now, it must be admitted that doctors Post and 
Stewart, witnesses for appellee, expressed the opinion 
that the prognosis was bad, and that appellee was a hope-
less cripple and would never walk again. But it must 
also be remembered that these doctors had never been 
called upon to treat appellee. They both admitted that 
they were not called to examine appellee until July 16, 
which was only a few days before the trial, and that they 
were called then for the sole purpose of testifying as 
experts, and both admitted that they were not specialists 
in nervous disorders. They both admitted that their opin-
ions were largely based on what appellee had himself 
told them about his condition and his symptoms. This 
testimony would have been incompetent in many, if not 
most, jurisdictions. In the chapter on Evidence in 22 
C. J., p. 269, it is said : "Where statements to a physician 
are made, not for the purpose of diagnosis and treatment, 
but in order to enable him to testify as a witness, the 
declarant's consideration of his interest in the result of 
the litigation may lead him to intensify his actual symp-
toms, or even to evolve new ones, for which reason state-
ments made under such circumstances are usually 
rejected." 

Our case of Biddle v. Riley, 118 Ark. 206, 176 S. W. 
134, L. R. A. 1915 F, 992, held such testimony competent. 
A. headnote in that case reads as follows : "A medical 
expert may base his opinion upon a clinical history of 
the , case under consideration, "and in order to make his 
testimony intelligible, he may testify to the observations 
that he made, and also as to what his patient said to him 
in describing his bodily condition and the character and 
manifestations of his sickness, pains, etc." In the same 
paragraph of the opinion in which that statement appears 
it is also said: "The reason for this rule is that the physi-
cian must oftentimes of necessity take into consideration 
such statements in reaching a conclusion as to the physi-
cal condition of the patient, and the nature and extent of 
his malady or injury ; and hence the rule being founded 
on such necessity, it has been declared that it might be 
applied with caution, and not extended beyond the reason 
of necessity upon which it rests. It has been declared,
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however, that-the mere statements made by a person as to 
his sufferings; pain, etc., which statement was made for 
the sole purpose of furnishing the expert with informa-
tion on which to base an opinion, is not admissible, and 
that the witness, in testifying to what he has heard and 
observed, is confined to exclamations, shrinkings (shriek, 
Mg) and other expressions which appear instinctive, in-
tuitive and .spontaneous. 5 Encyclopedia of Evidence, p. 
608." 

In the note to the text from 22 C. J., above qaoted; 
our case of St. Louis, etc., R. Co. v. Bostic, 121 Ark. 295, 
180 S. W. 988, 181 S. W. 135, is cited, in which case a 
headnote reads as follows : "In an action for damages 
due to personal injuries, a statement by a physician that 
plaintiff told him that he was spitting blood some months 
after the injury, is inadmissible, when the physician had 
no first hand information that that was the case." 

-an undisputed fact that doCtors Johnson and 
the pliTysicians who had treated appellee and thus 

had the opportunity to acquire first hand information, 
were not called as witnesses. Appellee might have called 
them had he elected to waive the privilege conferred by 
§ 5159, Pope's digest. But the defendant could not have 
required these doctors to testify. The provisions of act 
251 of the Acts of 1937, p. 909, do not apply. This act 
amends § 4149, Crawford & Moses' Digest, which, as thus 
amended, appears as § 5159 of Pope's Digest. This act 
provides that if a patient were -Attended by two or more 
physicians, and calls one of them to testify as to his ail-
ment, he shall be deemed to have waived the privilege 
attaching to the other physician. Here appellee did not 
call either doctor Johnson or doctor Rose, and appellant 
could not do so. 

Much stress is put upon the fact that appellee was 
struck on the head, and had his jaw broken, but both 
doctors Post and Stewart admitted that they found no 
broken bones or fracture of any kind, and that all of 
appellee's reflexes were normal; that there were no func-
tional or organic diseases, and appellee appeared to be 
well nourished. Indeed, the testimony to this effect was
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so overwhelming and undisputed that after several doc-
torS, called by appellant, bad so testified, -counsel for 
appellee said: "We concede that the X-ray pictures 
taken show no fractures." It is also undisputed that 
there were no fractures or bone injuries, and all the doc-
ters agreed there was no disalignment of the vertebrae, 
that the gash on tbe back of the bead was a:one-stitch gash 
.and not apparently serious, and appellee's physicians 
admit that when their examination was made in July no 
.evidence remained of the abrasion on tbe back and shoul-
ders, that the lip and bead bad healed, and tbe laboratory 
tests show all functional organs to be sound arid normal, 
and that the blood pressure was also normal. 

The general charaCter , of the testimony of appellee 
is reflected in the examination of appellee's witness, Dr. 
•Post, as -follows. After expressing the opinion that ap-
pellee had been totally and permanently disabled to per-
form any manual labor, he made answers as follows: 
"Q. You say all reflexes were normal? A. Yes, sir. Q. 
Doctor, you didn't take any X-rays? A. No, sir. Q. You 
didn't make any other tests otilier than these you have 
described? A. Yes, sir. Q. All these tests you made 
called more or less for the honest co-operation on the 
part of the patient? A.. Well, no, sir, they would act in-
dependently. Q. You say that reflexes would act inde-
pendently , and you found everything normal? A. Yes, sir. 
Q. When you called these things they required the co-
operation on his part where you took the watch and 
found his defect in hearing? A. Yes, sir. Q. Tell the 
jury what symptoms that you discovered that indicated 
to you that he had traumatic neurosis. A.. His inability 
to stand or walk. Q. And how did you determine that he 
could.not stand or walk? A.. We tried him; also froth the 
bistory of the case. Q. Did he and his family give you 
this? A. Yes, sir.. Q. Then you determined that by ask-
hig him if he could stand or walk,_and he told you no? 
A. Yes, .sir." 

On his cross-examination Dr. Post further testified 
as follows: "Q. In your examination, you found nothing 
functionally wrong with his heart? A. No, sir.. Q. The
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blood pressure? A. Normal. Q. Kidneys? A. Acted all-
right. Q. Stomach? A.. All right. Q. The intestines Were 
all right? A.. Yes, sir. Q. The bowels? A. Acted all 
right Q. The spine, in so far as you knew? A. Align-
ment good, as far as I' could make out. Q. You did ex-
amine his back, did:you? A..Yes, sir.. Q. You felt of it? 
A. Yes, sir: Q. The alignment was good? A. Yes, sir. 
Q. You couldn't observe anything from your own obser-
vation , that indicated there was anything wrong with the 
spine? A. All right, as far as I-could see." 

Appellee's other witness, Dr. Stewart, on hiS cross-
examination gave substantially the same- answers to 
these questions, and in addition made answers as follows: 
"Q. In all of these type of tests that you made the reflexes 
were normal? A. The reflexes were normal. Q. When. 
you go to hold a watch up to his . ear, in making that test, 
he had to tell you about that?• A. Yes, sir. He had to 
co-operate with you fully and honestly on that kind of 
test, or the test was no good and the test told you noth-
ing? A. That's right. • Q. Did you ask the boy to stand 
up? A. We asked him if he could and he told us no ; we 
tried to set him up and he couldn't do it. Q. He told you 
that? A. He complained so bitterly, we didn't force 
him. Q. Why did . you ask him to stand up? A. To be 
sure and see if he could, we wanted to know if he could." 

All the doctors called by appellant who had also 
examined appellee said they found no reason why appelL 
lee could not walk if he wished to do so. , Only one of 
the doctors called by either side qualified . as .a. nerve and 
brain expert, all others were general practitioners. This 
nerve and brain specialist expressed the definite and posi-
tive opinion that appellee_w_ould. again walk after the 
case had been finally disposed of. His testimony may be 
summarized as follows. : "I made a neurology examina-
tion of the man and by that examination I examined 
this man's nef.vous system all over, and I found he had 
all the reflexes; he waset parailyzed in any part of his 
body; not any nerve coming off the brain .was paralyzed, 
no paralysis a.t all, mentality clear, and from that ex-
amination I .don 't think he had any mental condition; he
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was very well nourished and I couldn't . find any injury; 
there was no disease of this boy 's nervous system, or 
brain, or spine, or any nerve coming off of them." He 
enumerated the symptoms which would suggest a neuro-
sis, and appellee had none of them'. This specialist testi-
fied that he found appellee very unresponsive during his 
examination, that members of appellee's family were 
present during the examination, .and that he detected 
appellee's sister doaching appellee . during the examina-
tion, a fact which the sister- did not deny. 

'After drawing all the inferences most favorable to 
the verdict, can it be said the opinions of doctors Post 
and . Stewart, who admit that they examined appellee for 
the purpose of testifying in, his .behalf, and who admit 
also that their opinions are based largely on the subjec-
tive symptoms of which appellee complained, which were 
corroborated only by a couple of relatively insignificant 
scars, will reasonably warrant the verdict returned in 
this , case and is sufficient to sustain the verdict? This, 
as Judge COCKRILL, said, is a question of law for this 
court to decide. I submit that the testimony is not suf-
ficient, and as the excessiveness of the verdict is not the 
only error complained of, the plaintiff should not be 
allowed, as a matter of grace, to have the judgment 
affirmed for $30,000. The very passion and prejudice 
which induced the excessive verdict may have been re-
sponsible also for the finding . by the jury that there was 
liability . for the injury, and the judgment should, in_my 
opinion, be reversed. 

am authorized to say that:Chief Justice SMITH and 
Justice MCHAr&EY concur in the views here expressed.


